#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC11-512** 

WILLIAM REAVES,

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director, CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0066850

CRAIG J. TROCINO ASSISTANT CCRC Florida Bar No. 99620

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTHERN REGION 101 N.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> AVE., SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves an appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of relief on the Appellant's successive motion for post-conviction relief filed under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PCR1"— record on initial postconviction appeal

"PCR2" – record on instant postconviction appeal.

"T1" - transcript of postconviction evidentiary hearing, March 4-6, 2003

"T2"- transcript of case management conference in the instant appeal.

## **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

William Reaves has been sentenced to death. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Reaves, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

#### <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court issued a full scale repudiation of this Court's Strickland jurisprudence. The Supreme Court held that this Court's application of *Strickland* in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination under the rubric of the most deferential of review standards established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which requires that federal courts to treat state court adjudications with an extremely high level of deference. This high level of deference requires that a federal court may only alter a state court adjudication if its application of federal law was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter* must be read. When asking whether *Porter* requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in Porter found this Court's application of *Strickland* to be so unreasonable that it was appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Reaves asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively and deeply, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or

not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. In other words, simply distinguishing *Porter* on its facts fails to identify the underlying constitutional problem; Mr. Reaves asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or was it in fact indicative of a non-isolated conceptual problem in this Court's approach to *Strickland* issues that also occurred in the present case.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Indian River County, entered the judgments of conviction and the sentences of death.

Appellant, William Reaves was indicted on October 8, 1986, on one count of first-degree murder (Count I), one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Count II), and one count of trafficking in cocaine (Count III) (R2. 2051-2055). The State eventually dismissed Counts II and III of the indictment (R2. 2429, 2532).

Mr. Reaves' first trial was held in August of 1987. His conviction and sentence were reversed by this Court because his former defense counsel had

subsequently become the state attorney who ultimately prosecuted him. *Reaves v. State*, 574 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1991). A second trial was held in February 1992. Mr. Reaves was convicted and sentenced to death following the jury's recommendation. Mr. Reaves' conviction and death sentence were affirmed by this Court. *Reaves v. State*, 639 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994).

Mr. Reaves filed a Motion for Postconviction relief that was summarily denied on May 28, 1999. On appeal, this Court reversed that order and remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing holding,

The postconviction court denied Reaves' allegation without an evidentiary hearing despite evidence that his counsel had evidence supporting this defense which he did not present.

\*\*\*

Voluntary intoxication was an available defense in this instance, and the record is inconclusive as to why counsel did not advance the defense. As Reaves' claim of ineffective assistance was legally sufficient and was not refuted by the record, it was error not to afford him an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

Reaves v. State, 826 So. 2d 932, 938-939 (Fla. 2002).

During that evidentiary hearing, substantial evidence of trial counsel's ineffectiveness at the guilt phase and penalty phase were demonstrated. Mr. Reaves presented the testimony of trial counsel as well as numerous expert

<sup>1</sup> The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on November 7, 1994. Reaves v. State, 115 S. Ct. 488 (1994).

witnesses who presented valuable evidence the jury never considered.

Trial counsel Kirschner testified that, although he had been practicing law for eight years at the time of Mr. Reaves' trial, it was his first capital murder trial. (T. 14). Notwithstanding significant evidence of voluntary intoxication, trial counsel never discussed voluntary intoxication as a defense and unilaterally decided to pursue a defense of excusable homicide. (T. 17-18; 20; 21-24)

Trial counsel acknowledged that when Mr. Reaves was arrested in Georgia, police reports indicated he, was "complaining of head injuries, left eye, <u>and also coming down off cocaine</u>." (T. 29)(emphasis added).

Mr. Kirschner stated that he talked to Mr. Eugene Hinton in the jail and off the record during Mr. Reaves' trial in an attempt to convince him to testify. (T. 30). Trial counsel said that during the interview he never asked Hinton any questions about Mr. Reaves' drug use, about whether Hinton was using cocaine with Mr. Reaves, or to what extent Mr. Reaves was doing cocaine. (T. 31). He further testified that the excusable homicide defense that he pursued at trial did not preclude developing and using an intoxication defense. (T. 31). He agreed that a voluntary intoxication defense would have gone directly to Mr. Reaves' ability or lack thereof to form the specific intent to commit premeditated. (T. 32).

Although Mr. Kirschner testified that he interviewed family members and friends during trial preparation as "mitigation witnesses," and that those interviews

included questions about Mr. Reaves' drug use after he came back from the war in Vietnam with "a significant drug problem," he stated that he failed to talk to any of the witnesses about Mr. Reaves' drug use at or around the time of the offense (T. 37). He stated that he did not recall if he ever asked his expert, Dr. Weitz, about how "Vietnam syndrome" might interact with the use of drugs. (T. 38). He testified that he did not request funds for a neuropharmacologist or any other expert to explain how the drugs Mr. Reaves was using might have affected his behavior at the time of the offense. (T. 38).

He testified that he failed to object at trial to the State introducing 4.5 ounces of cocaine found on Mr. Reaves after his arrest in Georgia. (T. 51-52). He agreed that during the trial he had asked the undercover police officer in Georgia who had been involved in Mr. Reaves' arrest whether the defendant's appearance was consistent with him being a "crack head." (T. 53). In response to why he did these two things, he explained, "I suppose that I wanted to be able to get the instruction on voluntary intoxication and that would explain both that and the previous failure to object to the introduction of the cocaine at the point of the arrest." (T. 53). He stated that during the charge conference he requested that the jury be given the instruction of the defense of voluntary intoxication "to leave that as an option for the jury, a fall-back position if you will from my primary defense which was

excusable homicide." (T. 53).<sup>2</sup>

Trial counsel failed to retain an expert in substance abuse and he specifically did not hire Dr. Weitz for that purpose. (T. 80). He agreed that the jury never heard any testimony from Dr. Weitz at the guilt phase of the case and thus basically never heard anything from the defense arguing voluntary intoxication (T. 88).

At the evidentiary hearing counsel for Mr. Reaves proffered Eugene Hinton's February 11, 1999 affidavit into the record because the court denied the Defendant's February 21, 2003 Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Testificandum, directed to transporting Mr. Hinton to testify in person at the evidentiary hearing. The affidavit was read into the record and it included Mr. Hinton's comments relevant to a potential voluntary intoxication defense:

- 3. Fat [Mr. Reaves] and I sold drugs together between Gifford and Tallahassee. On our trips, Fat would shoot up and smoke drugs. We had been to Tallahassee the weekend before this happened. I saw Fat the night this happened. He said he was going to his girlfriend's house to chill out. I believe that meant that he was going to do drugs.
- 4. Fat, he used drugs sometimes he would start to talk about what happened over there and would take off running.
  - 5. Fat came to my house after the police got

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>On redirect, after reviewing the trial record on the stand, Mr. Kirschner testified that the trial court actually brought up the possibility of an intoxication instruction, not him (T. 78-79).

shot. He was scared and thought people wanted to kill him. Fat was all strung out. He had been smoking crack and pretty much out of his head. He was real scared. I have never seen Fat violent with anyone but that night, he would run away from a fight if he could.

(T. 425-426).

Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that information from an expert neuropharmacologist would have been helpful to him in preparing a voluntary intoxication defense. (T. 89). He agreed that Dr. Weitz's examination at trial did not rule out voluntary intoxication, but mixed apples with oranges by confusing the voluntary intoxication standard with the M'Naughten insanity standard. (T. 90-91).

Dr. William Weitz testified at the evidentiary hearing on March 4, 2003. (T. 95-158). He testified that he is a licensed psychologist in Florida, with a specialty in clinical psychology and a focus on post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and military psychology. (T. 95). He stated that he worked on Mr. Reaves' case prior to the first trial in 1987, but testified only at the 1992 proceedings after being retained by Mr. Kirschner. (T. 96). He detailed what his testimony would have been if he had been asked by trial counsel to so testify:

I would have specifically looked at the way, the type of drugs, specifically cocaine, combined with alcohol - beer is alcohol as well - beer/alcohol combined with cocaine, the way that affects human intellectual process, judgment, reasoning, perception, decision making, problem solving, the increase - I know this from interviews - the fact that cocaine increases suspiciousness

and paranoia for the defendant, the fact that it impairs judgment and reasoning, that it certainly minimizes effective cognitive processing and problem solving, especially with the length of time both over the years and the amount of time during that day that the individual had been using the substances, that alone would traumatically affect his behavior to form intent and things of that nature. Certainly, there were critical factors, and I would have been able to discuss those as well.

(T. 104-105).

Dr. Weitz testified that based on his interviews in 1992 and before, it was his opinion that Mr. Reaves was unable to form the specific intent to kill on the night of the incident. (T. 105, 110). He further testified that his testimony about "Vietnam Syndrome" behaviors would have supplemented and completed the picture of Mr. Reaves' behavior on the night of the offense because,

the critical factor then says, given that drugs and alcohol impact, and the fact that we know there's a co-morbidity of 80 to 90 percent between heavy drug use in combat veterans and the stress disorders they experience. One of the behaviors would typically -- Given the judgment, reasoning, perceptual distortions that take place, what behaviors typically occur, or fill the void when those functions are impaired, and in that case they are well conditioned, well learned, highly automated behaviors, survival behaviors which fill the gap and which allow veterans to survive, and that's exactly the kinds of behaviors that the defendant exhibited on that evening.

Together, it would complete the process, although certainly I could describe the alcohol/drug effects independently, but here it helps to explain the kinds of behaviors that took place in addition to the impairments.

(T. 106).

Dr. Weitz testified that the altered perception and behavior that Mr. Reaves was experiencing at the time of the offense, associated with his stress syndrome, was impacted by his concurrent drug use:

When you're talking about adding on with that reality cocaine, which impairs we know his judgment, increases his paranoia and suspiciousness, alters his clarity of perception and thinking, that intensifies exponentially the inability for him to make reasonable and rational judgments at that time, and to accurately assess the situation. It just compounds the events dramatically.

\*\*\*

At the time that that behavior took place, the level of his reasoning, judgment, perception was so impaired that any decision that he would make would be impacted by the conditions he was under, specifically, cocaine and beer at the time, so that there was great distortions and alterations of his judgment, perception, and reasoning. So under those conditions, whatever he decided to do was affected by those conditions.

(T. 115;121).

Dr. Weitz stated that he did have information in 1992 that would have assisted him in forming an opinion about voluntary intoxication, including family interviews and Mr. Reaves's "whole pattern of alcohol and drugs use for many years" dating back to his military service (T. 116). He also agreed that it would have been helpful to have had the assistance of a neuropharmacologist in preparing any 1992 testimony about intoxication because "it certainly helps understand the levels he was taking, the frequency, chronicity, the interaction of drug use, and just

the fact that this was the severity and complexity of the problem." (T. 117).

Dr. Weitz stated that due to Mr. Reaves' intoxication he was not functioning with specific intent "because of the perceptions that he had at the time, the way in which his judgment, perception, and reasoning process, that he perceived that once the officer was fearful of losing control and his life was at risk, and then he responded in a very conditioned, automated, survival means, which meant retrieving the weapon and getting off the shot before the officer did, which he believed was a threat to his own life." (T. 135-36).

Dr. Richard Dudley, a psychiatrist, interviewed in jail and reviewed the detailed background materials concerning Mr. Reaves. (T. 162-63). Dr. Dudley testified that on the night of the crime he was intoxicated with cocaine. (T. 165-66). He also concluded that at the time of the offense Mr. Reaves was suffering from polysubstance abuse and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. (T. 165-66).

He recalled that in the confession, Mr. Reaves "repeatedly mentioned that he was intoxicated at the time [of the offense] and that the amount of cocaine that he had taken was having an impact on his behavior, and he described that in various ways." (T. 170). He also testified that he reviewed the affidavit of Eugene Hinton and he affirmed that the information in it differed substantially from the account of Hinton's trial testimony in the appellate opinion provided:

The difference is his affidavit is in contrast to his earlier testimony, that he indicated that Mr. Reaves' mental state

was dramatic, and he gave very different accounts of him being high, a very different sort of mental state that was given in the testimony, and also he even, as a general matter, described Mr. Reaves differently in the affidavit that he did in the testimony.

(T. 173).

Dr. Dudley also testified that after he submitted his own report, but before his testimony at the evidentiary hearing, he had the opportunity to review the reports of Dr. Thomas Michael Hyde, Dr. Erwin R. Parson, Deborah V. Mash, Ph.D, and Barry Crown, Ph.D. (T. 174). He stated that while his opinions concerning Mr. Reaves were not changed by his review of the other expert reports, he believed that the reports supported the opinions in his own report. (T. 175).

Dr. Dudley noted that the September 25, 1986 "injured inmate report" from Georgia, written after Mr. Reaves' arrest, indicated that Mr. Reaves reported that he was "coming down off cocaine." (T. 176). He stated that this information supported his diagnosis of chronic polysubstance abuse. (T. 177). Dr. Dudley stated that he believed that Mr. Reaves suffers from depression, associated with his PTSD, which is clinically significant and which might require medication if Mr. Reaves were a private patient (T. 180-81).

Dr. Dudley also testified that his report reflected his opinion that Mr. Reaves developed post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of his service in Vietnam (T. 187). According to Dr. Dudley it was his opinion that,

the combination of the effect of the acute intoxication of

cocaine on him and as it interacted with his other psychiatric difficulties [PTSD and depression], that his actions were simply reflexive [rather] than thought through decisions when he took that action.

(T. 191-92).

Dr. Barry Crown, a Board certified neuropsychologist and certified addiction specialist, testified that Mr. Reaves suffers from organic brain damage and has had a long term cocaine abuse problem. (T. 243; 246-47). As a result of Mr. Reaves' organic brain damage, "stressors such as drugs, alcohol, lack of sleep, generalized stress, depression, anxiety, and so on, will have a greater affect on him. And, in addition, as a result of the underlying condition, a smaller amount of substance has a greater affect." (T. 244-245). Additionally, in a heightened situation Mr. Reaves "would have difficulty with concentration, with attention, with understanding the long-term consequences of immediate behavior, which in a sense is forming intentionality, or direction, instead would act in a rather impulsive way." (T. 244-45). Thus, Mr. Reaves was not able to form specific intent because,

In neuropsychological terms, he has damage in an area that relates to understanding the long-term consequences on immediate behavior that would be further aggravated by substance use and abuse, and as a result would not have been able to, his behavior would have been impulsive. Other people in their wisdom would attempt to ascribe purposefulness to that type of behavior and attentionality. That's much in the same way that we attempt to make sense out of a dog running out in the back yard to bury a bone. We do it simply by looking at it and wanting to ascribe behavior and purpose to something that is impulsive.

(T. 250).

Dr. Deborah C. Mash, Ph.D., a professor of neurology and molecular cellular pharmacology at the University of Miami School of Medicine whose "primary areas of interest is substance abuse and dealing with the affects of cocaine" (T. 273). She reviewed background materials and interviewed Mr. Reaves on November 22, 2002 for about two hours, using an instrument called Addiction Severity Index, 5th Edition (T. 274-75).

She determined that Mr. Reaves' had a history of substance abuse from his teen years until 1986. (T. 275-85). Dr. Mash pointed out that the date of the offense in this case, 1986, had some independent historical significance:

At 1986 is when the face of cocaine changes radically in the United States. It switches from powder, from Miami Vice where everybody is using recreational cocaine to crack cocaine abuse, which changes the entire face of this epidemic. In 1986 we see the largest number of deaths in Dade County, that's sort of the curve of the whole epidemic. We also see a large increase in violent crime related to cocaine, et cetera. So, it was very plentiful throughout.

(T. 279).

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