IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11-512

WILLIAM REAVES

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

...........

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

While here, Reaves admits that a change in law is not retroactive under <u>Witt</u> unless this standard is met, he makes no attempt to show how the alleged change in law meets this standard. In fact, he never clearly identifies what change <u>Porter</u> made, offers no purpose behind that alleged change in law, and does not mention how extensive the reliance on the allegedly old law was or what the effect on the administration of justice would be. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly found that Reaves failed to establish that the change in law he alleges occurred would be retroactive under <u>Witt</u>. The claim should be rejected and the summary denial affirmed.

Instead of attempting to show that the change in law he

alleges occurred meets Witt, Reaves points to the fact that this Court found Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987) to be retroactive, and he implies that because both cases involved findings of error in Florida cases, the change in law he alleges occurred in Porter should be too. However, the mere fact that this Court found a change in law based on a determination that this Court had made an error to meet the Witt standard in one case does not dictate that a finding that this Court committed a different error in a different case would constitute a change in law that satisfies Witt in а different case. This is particularly true when one considers the difference in the errors found in Hitchcock and Porter and the relationship between those errors and the Witt standard.

In <u>Hitchcock</u>, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the United States Supreme Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the error was in a jury instruction, determining whether that error occurred in a

particular case was simple. All a reviewing court needed to do was consider the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. <u>See</u>, <u>State v. Glenn</u>, 558 So.2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990) (refusing to apply <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in Hitchcock militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast and as noted above, <u>Porter</u> involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Hence, the purpose of <u>Porter</u> was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the trial court found, there is nothing to show <u>Porter</u> changed the standard of review from <u>Strickland</u> and a review of this Court's jurisprudence shows that it has relied upon Strickland extensively as recognized in Stephens. Moreover, the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in <u>Porter</u> retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given these stark difference in the analysis of changes in law in Porter and Hitchcock and their relationship to Witt factors, the trial court properly determined Reaves did not show that the alleged change in law from Porter would be retroactive under Witt even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in Stephens itself, as both changes in law concern the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So.2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the fact that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the trial court properly found that this motion was time barred and this Court should affirm.

Moreover, it should be remembered that Reaves instance claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are procedurally barred. He is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claims of ineffective assistance for failing to investigate and present an intoxication defense and penalty phase mitigation that he had raised in his first motion for post conviction relief and lost. See Reaves, 826 So.2d 932 (Fla. 2002)

(addressing ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel) and 874 Reaves v. State, 942 So.2d (Fla. 2006) (addressing ineffective assistance of quilt phase counsel after remand for evidentiary hearing) As this Court has held and as relied upon by the trial court, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So.2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). (PCR-3v1 146). Under the law of the case doctrine, Reaves cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So.2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also well established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So.2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Reaves is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was denied correctly. See Topps 865 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing v. State, application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant

argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in <u>Rompilla v. Beard</u>, 545 U.S. 374 (2005), <u>Wiggins v. Smith</u>, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under <u>Strickland</u>." <u>Marek</u>, 8 So.3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found that under the AEDPA standard of review the state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was procedurally barred and that determination should be affirmed.

Again, even if Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, <u>Porter</u> had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive, and the claim was not procedurally barred, Reaves still would not be entitled to relief. As this Court recognized in <u>Witt</u>, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So.2d at 930-31. Moreover, as the Court recognized in Strickland, there is no reason to

address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

<u>Porter</u> does not compel relief in Reaves' case. In <u>Porter</u>, counsel only had one short meeting with the defendant about mitigation, never attempted to obtain any records about the defendant and never requested mental health evaluation for mitigation at all. <u>Porter</u>, 130 S. Ct. at 453. Such is not the case here. In Reaves' case, unlike in <u>Porter</u>, the state courts did address trial counsel's performance at the guilt and penalty phase and found counsel's performance was not deficient.

With respect to the first review of penalty phase counsel, this Court reasoned:

presented numerous witnesses Defense counsel who discussed Reaves' childhood in detail and further testified as to his drug addiction when he returned home from Vietnam. Two men who served with Reaves also testified as to the conditions of fighting the war in Vietnam, including drug usage. A review of the record supports the trial court's finding that the evidence which he now seeks to introduce is cumulative.FN12 The only evidence identified in Reaves' postconviction motion which was not presented during the penalty phase includes the fact that Reaves suffered from a venereal disease, that one of his sisters died shortly after he returned from Vietnam, and that he helped a prison guard when two inmates attacked the guard. is reasonable probability There no that these additional factors would have affected the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.FN13 The only meaningful mitigation which was not introduced involved the fact that Reaves assisted a jail guard. As the trial court recognized, however, any benefit to be obtained by this evidence would have been negated by more recent evidence that while Reaves was in

prison, he hit a deputy in the face and later entered a guilty plea to battery on a law enforcement officer. FN12. See, e.g., Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316, 321 (Fla. 1991) ("It is not negligent to fail to call everyone who may have information about an event. Once counsel puts on evidence sufficient, if believed by the jury, to establish his point, he need not call every witness whose testimony might bolster his position.").

FN13. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1049 (Fla. 2000) ("In order to obtain a reversal of his death sentence on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, [the defendant] must show 'both (1) that the identified acts or omissions of counsel were deficient, or outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense such that, without the errors, there is a reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances would have been different.'").

Reaves, 826 So.2d at 941.

The issues addressed during the remand for an evidentiary hearing were ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel for not presenting a voluntary intoxication defense and for not "retaining experts who could testify properly as to the effects of substance abuse combined with his mental defect" in support of voluntary intoxication" and ineffectiveness of penalty phase counsel for not presenting "various mitigating circumstances, like Reaves's impoverished childhood, his military background, his drug addiction, his sister's death which occurred shortly after he returned from Vietnam, and his giving assistance to a jail guard in 1973." <u>Reaves</u>, 826 So.2d at 939-41. On appeal,

this Court found that counsel was not deficient in rejecting the voluntary intoxication defense given the law at the time of the re-trial and the fact that Reaves, to date, failed to show he was intoxicated at the time of the crime sufficient to warrant the defense. The denial of relief was affirmed by this Court reaching the prejudice prong. without ever This Court concluded: "Reaves has not demonstrated that trial counsel's performance was deficient under Strickland. Because counsel's performance was not deficient, we need not address the prejudice prong. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052." Reaves, 942 So.2d at 881.

With respect to the ineffectiveness of penalty phase counsel addressed on remand, this Court opined:

A review of the record supports the trial court's finding that the evidence which he now seeks to introduce is cumulative. The only evidence identified postconviction motion which in Reaves' was not presented during the penalty phase includes the fact that Reaves suffered from a venereal disease, that one of his sisters died shortly after he returned from Vietnam, and that he helped a prison guard when two inmates attacked the guard. There is no reasonable probability that these additional factors would have affected the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The only meaningful mitigation which was not introduced involved the fact that Reaves assisted a jail guard. As the trial court recognized, however, any benefit to be obtained by this evidence would have been negated by more recent evidence that while Reaves was in prison, he hit a deputy in the face and later entered a guilty plea to battery on a law enforcement officer.

Reaves, 926 So.2d at 941 (footnotes omitted).

In the instant collateral litigation, it appears Reaves is claiming this Court erred in not analyzing penalty phase counsel's performance in light of alleged statutory mitigation presented in a collateral evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel for not raising a voluntary intoxication defense. However, this point was not raised in the prior litigation and Reaves may not raise claims of ineffectivenesss in piecemeal fashion, <u>Pope v. State</u>, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997).

The claim of ineffectiveness of guilt phase counsel did not involve a prejudice analysis, and as such, is not impacted in the least by <u>Porter</u>. While the claim of ineffectiveness of penalty phase counsel respecting non-statutory mitigation did address prejudice, as explained above, <u>Porter</u> is not a gateway for Reaves to obtain a second review of the matter. Moreover, to the extent that he is raising a new claim, combining the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing on guilt phase issues to revive a penalty phase claim of ineffectiveness and add new allegations, Reaves is procedurally barred. <u>See</u>, Wright, 857 So.2d at 868; Pope, 702 So.2d at 223.

Reaves does not even suggest how Porter <u>would</u> have affected these determinations. In fact, he ignores the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing which supported that finding. Moreover, finding no deficiency in such a situation is

in accordance with United States Supreme Court precedent. <u>Bobby</u> <u>v. Van Hook</u>, 130 S.Ct. 13 (2009). As such, Reaves' claim would be meritless even if <u>Porter</u> had changed the law and applied retroactively. The trial court properly denied this collateral motion and should be affirmed.

Finally, it must be noted that Reaves is represented by Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South ("CCRC") and as such CCRC was not authorized to file the successive, time-barred postconviction motion. Section 27.702, Florida Statutes provides that "capital collateral regional counsel and the attorneys appointed pursuant to s.27.710 shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." The Florida Supreme Court has recognized the legislative intent to limit collateral counsel's role in capital post-conviction proceedings. <u>See State v. Kilgore</u>, 976 So.2d 1066, 1068-1069 (Fla. 2007).

The term "postconviction capital collateral proceedings" is defined in § 27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat., as follows:

"Postconviction capital collateral proceedings" means one series of collateral litigation of an affirmed conviction and sentence of death, including the proceedings in the trial court that imposed the capital sentence, any appellate review of the sentence by the Supreme Court, any certiorari review of the sentence by the United States Supreme Court, and any authorized federal habeas corpus litigation with respect to the sentence. The term does not include repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death which is affirmed by

the Supreme Court and undisturbed by any collateral litigation.

§ 27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat. Accordingly, CCRC was not authorized to file a successive, untimely, facially insufficient, and procedurally barred collateral challenge.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State requests respectfully this Court affirm the summary denial of postconviction relief.